1972

Ivan B. Evans, Jr. v. Gibbons & Reed Comp Any And Employers Insurance of Wausau : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter arises from an Order of the Industrial Commission dated December 27, 1971, which modified a hearing examiner's order by reducing compensation benefits awarded to appellant for injuries resulting from and industrial accident of May 6, 1969.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

Appellant filed an application for compensation with the Industrial Commission and by letter dated July 6, 1970, carrier assumed liability for the injuries sustained by appellant. On September 29, 1970, the medical aspects of the case were referred to a special medical panel of the Commission pursuant to 35-1-77 Utah Code Annotated as amended. On March 25, 1971, the medical panel submitted a report of its findings and determined, among other things, that the appellant was entitled to a permanent partial disability assessment of five per cent (5%) of loss of body function attributable to the industrial accident of May 6, 1969. Appellant objected to the findings of the medical panel and the matter was heard before hearing examiner on July 1, 1971. The hearing examiner then made his findings of fact and conclusions of law and entered an order November 16, 1971, awarding to appellant compensation for temporary total disability for a period of three months; and compensation for twenty per cent (20%) permanent partial disability of loss of body function attributable to the industrial accident. The order of the hearing examiner was modified by order of the Industrial Commission on December 27, 1971, which reduced the award of compensation for permanent partial disability to the appellant from twenty percent (20%) to five per cent (5%). From this ruling the applicant seeks a review by the Supreme Court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks a reversal of the Industrial Commission's ruling that he is entitled to compensation benefits for permanent partial disability of five per cent (5%) and reinstatement of the hearing examiner's order that appellant is entitled to compensation benefits of twenty per cent (20%) permanent partial disability; and an additional award of compensation for temporary total disability for the additional period of time which appellant has remained temporarily totally disabled from the injuries he sustained from the industrial accident of May 6, 1969.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, on May 6, 1969, while working for his employer, Gibbons & Reed Company, was involved in an industrial accident from which he suffered injuries to his person as a direct result of the accident, which facts are not disputed. The appellant was seen and treated by Dr. Neil C. Cappel and a report was submitted to the Industrial Commission of his diagnosis and findings on appellant's injuries (R-28-29).

The medical aspects of the injuries suffered by appellant as a direct result of the industrial accident were submitted to the medical panel on September 29, 1970, by letter of the hearing examiner, Peter Marthakis II, with instructions to the panel to make certain medical findings and conclusions. (R-41-42).

The medical panel then submitted its report to the Industrial Commission, which report included a findings and conclusions that the appellant had suffered fifteen per cent (15%) permanent partial disability for loss of body function as a result of pre-existing conditions, and had suffered five per cent (5%) permanent partial disability of loss of body function as a direct result of the industrial accident complained of. The Commission further found that temporary total disability attributable to the accident was three months. (R-54, 55). The medical panel determined further that the temporary total disability which appellant had suffered and was suffering was due to a condition of spondylolisthesis as a result of spondylolysis. (R-53).

Appellant objected to the findings of the medical panel and a hearing was held before a hearing examiner on July 1, 1971. At this hearing it was clearly established that the diagnosed condition of appellant of spondylolisthesis was asymptomatic prior to the industrial accident of May 6, 1969. (R-75, 76, 80, 86). Dr. Hess also stated at the hearing that he could not say with certainty that appellant had a grade 1 spondylolisthesis before the accident of May 6, 1969. (R-85 and 86).

The hearing examiner, after submission of arguments in writing by the respective parties, submitted findings of fact and conclusions of law and an order dated November 16, 1971, wherein he determined as a matter of law that the appellant was entitled to workmen's compensation benefits for the injuries resulting

from the industrial accident of May 6, 1969, and awarded compensation to the appellant of twenty per cent (20%) permanent partial disability for loss of body function attributable to the industrial accident in that the appellant's pre-existing condition was asymptomatic prior to the accident and became disabling as a direct result of the industrial accident and that the defendants were liable for the resulting disability. (R-98, 99).

The order of the hearing examiner was later modified by order of the Commission dated December 27, 1971, wherein the Commission ordered the hearing examiner's order of November 16, 1971, to be amended reducing the award for compensation for permanent partial disability to five per cent (5%) attributable to the accident and awarded compensation accordingly. (R-104, 105) The Commission in making its order modifying the hearing examiner's report relied heavily upon an off the cuff statement made by Dr. Hess at the hearing of July 1, 1971, as to the panel debating whether or not to award appellant any impairment because they felt the spondylolisthesis was already present. (R-104, 105, TR. p. 19) Based upon the above facts, the Industrial Commission ordered that the applicant be awarded compensation of five percent (5%) permanent partial disability for loss of body function attributable to the industrial accident of May 6, 1969; and that fifteen per cent (15%) of the permanent partial disability of appellant was due to pre-existing conditions.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN ATTRIBUTING FIVE PER CENT PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY TO THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT OF MAY 6, 1969.

It is not disputed that appellant suffered injuries to his low back as the result of an industrial accident which occurred on May 6, 1969. The injuries which appellant sustained were diagnosed as consisting of low back sprain, cervical sprain, mid-back sprain, and syatic irritation with an early grade 1 spondylolisthesis of the L-5 vertebrae as a result of spondylolysis at this level. (R-29-R-53). Appellant suffered temporary total disability as a result of the injury sustained from the industrial accident for a period of approximately one year and was released to return to light work on or about April 1, 1970. (R-31). However, appellant continued to suffer temporary total disability and has required treatment up to and including the present time. (R-32, 40, 44, 61; TR. p. 16 and 17). The medical aspects of the case were referred to a special medical panel of the Commission pursuant to 35-1-77 Utah Code Annotated as amended. Subsequently the panel filed its report on March 25, 1971, wherein the panel determined that the appellant had suffered a total physical impairment resulting in a twenty per cent (20%) loss of body function and found that the degree of permanent physical impairment attributable to the industrial injury to be five per cent (5%) loss of body

function. (R-54, 55). Appellant objected to the findings of the medical panel and the matter was heard on July 1, 1971, at which time it was clearly established by Dr. Hess under cross-examination that appellant's condition of spondylolisthesis was asymptomatic prior to the industrial accident and became symptomatic after the industrial accident. (R-75, 85; TR. p. 10, 20). It was also established at the time of hearing on appellant's objection that the condition of spondylolisthesis is a developmental condition and trauma ordinarily brings it to light or makes it recognized in that trauma is one of the causative factors. (R-74, TR. p. 9) Dr. Hess admitted that there was nothing in the X-rays reviewed by the panel taken prior to the industrial injury to appellant indicating that he had spondylolysis and that the X-rays taken after the accident were the first to show some evidence of spondylolysis which was diagnosed by the panel as being an early grade 1 spondylolysthesis. (R-47-55).

It is the position of appellant that the fact that the pre-existing condition of spondylolysis prior to the industrial accident was clearly asymptomatic, and became symptomatic after the accident, the Commission should follow the long-established rule of law that the vulnerable or pre-disposed victim of an accident is afforded definite legal redress for his injuries; that where the accident of May 6, 1969, put into motion the forces which have culminated to create the present condition of spondylolisthesis, appellant should be fully compensated therefor. (See *Thomas Dee Memorial Hospital Association v. Industrial Commission, et al*, 104 Utah 61, 138

P.2d 233; *Jones v. Cal-Pac Corporation*, 121 Utah 612, 244 P.2d 640; and *Purity Biscuit Corporation v. Industrial Commission, et al*, 115 Utah 1, 201 P.2d 961). This principle and rule of law has been applied in workmen's compensation cases by this court as well as personal injury cases and was so applied in the recent case of *Goldleaf v. Sheraton Restaurants*, 79 ALR 881,

“If an accidental fall precipitates or accelerates disabling affects of a disease theretofore acquiescent, resulting disability is compensable under the workmen's compensation act.”

Also, in the case of *Deep Rock Oil Company v. Betchan, et al*, (Okla) 35 P.2d 905, the Court said:

“Existing pre-disposition to injury does not furnish grounds for denying compensation when accidental injury substantially causes disability.”

In view of the facts and circumstances as established at the hearing of July 1, 1971, it is clear that the present condition of the appellant and the resulting disability from the injuries he suffered from the industrial accident of May 6, 1969, is directly attributable to the accident, and an award of a twenty per cent (20%) permanent partial disability for loss of body function by the medical examiner was proper and should be upheld. Appellant should not be denied compensation on the basis of an “off the cuff” statement by Dr. Hess, as contained in the Commissioner's order of December 27, 1971, when Dr. Hess stated that it was difficult to determine disability in cases such as this and there are no books to tell you exactly how to do this.” (R-84).

Further, Dr. Hess stated that the ordinary rating of disability for a man with a Grade I spondylolisthesis is 20% loss of body function. (R-84) All of the facts as determined at the hearing of July 1, 1971 clearly establish that the trauma suffered by appellant as a result of the industrial accident of May 6, 1969 was the causative factor in producing the appellant's condition of spondylolisthesis and the resulting disability in that appellant was clearly asymptomatic prior to the accident and he became symptomatic after the accident and remains symptomatic to the present time.

Dr. Hess, at the July hearing, indicated that a different rating procedure is followed in industrial cases when surgery is required in cases of spondylolisthesis (R-84) It is the contention that the medical panel and Industrial Commission should follow the established Rule of Law for negligence cases and industrial cases in assessing disability occasioned by industrial accidents and award appellant compensation for permanent partial disability of twenty per cent (20%) loss of body function in accordance with the Hearing Examiner's order of November 16, 1971. (See Cases cited Supra)

POINT II

APPELLANT SHOULD BE AWARDED COMPENSATION FOR THE ENTIRE PERIOD THAT HE SUFFERED TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT OF MAY 6, 1969.

The medical panel determined in its report of December 15, 1970, that the period of temporary total disability of the appellant attributable to the accident would be approximately three months. (R-54) A review of the reports of Dr. Cappel, Dr. Morrow and the transcripts of the hearing on July 1, 1971, as contained in the record, clearly indicate that the appellant suffered a period of temporary total disability of approximately one year and continues to suffer temporary total disability to the present time.

At the time of the hearing on applicant's objections to the findings and conclusions of the medical panel, it was established and determined by Dr. Hess under cross-examination that the finding of the medical panel, "surgical intervention is not necessitated by the accident," should be modified or a re-evaluation of this finding should be made. It was established by Dr. Hess that surgical intervention is required in many cases of spondylolisthesis where the patient cannot, through conservative methods, alleviate the pain and suffering. (R-81, 82, TR. p. 16, 17) It was also stated by Dr. Hess that surgical intervention would be the indicated procedure for the appellant, unless there is contra-indication. (R-82, TR. p. 17) Dr. Hess seemed to feel that a contra-indication was indicated by the weight of the appellant being some 300 pounds plus. However, it was established that the appellant weighed in excess of 300 pounds prior to the industrial accident of May 6, 1969, when he was asymptomatic and suffering no disability, has continued to weigh about the same weight after the accident and con-

tinues to remain at approximately the same weight. (R-82, 83, TR. p. 17 and 18.) The special medical panel had determined from Dr. Cappel's reports that Mr. Evans had become asymptomatic after the accident and was released to return to work to do light work only on April 1, 1970, approximately one year after the accident. Appellant attempted to return to work, his condition became worse and he has remained temporarily totally disabled up to and including the present time. Dr. Hess stated that the observation of the medical panel concerning the appellant's condition becoming asymptomatic after the accident and then becoming symptomatic once again was not an objective finding but was merely subjective or opinion. (R-85, 86, TR. p. 20, 21.) It is the position of appellant that he has remained in a condition of temporary total disability since the industrial accident of May 6, 1969, except for a short period in April, 1970, and he should be awarded compensation for this entire period of temporary total disability up to and including the present time and until such time as it is determined that his condition of spondylolisthesis has subsided to enable him to return to gainful employment or is corrected by surgical intervention as is indicated. (R-82, TR. p. 17.)

POINT III

THE FINDING OF THE MEDICAL PANEL THAT SURGICAL INTERVENTION IS NOT NECESSITATED BY THE ACCIDENT OF MAY 6, 1969, AND THE HEARING EXAMIN-

SE'R ORDER OF NOVEMBER 16, 1971, AND
THE COMMISSION'S ORDER OF DECEMBER
27, 1971, SHOULD BE MODIFIED.

Dr. Hess stated at the time of the hearing held on July 1, 1971, that the finding of the medical panel on page 6 of its report should be modified or changed. In response to the question of appellant's attorney:

“By this statement you do not mean to imply Doctor, that surgical intervention is not necessitated, with respect to Mr. Evans, on an overall picture?”

Dr. Hess stated:

“No. The statement, without putting a paragraph in there, means were this man of a reasonable weight—190 or 200 pounds—and still symptomatic after reasonable conservative treatment, decompression arthrodesis would be the indicated procedure.” (R-82, TR. p. 17.)

It can be seen from the testimony of Dr. Hess as contained in the transcript of the proceedings held on July 1, 1971, that surgical intervention is now indicated and would be necessitated by the industrial accident of May 6, 1969. Appellant has obviously not responded to conservative treatment and continues to be symptomatic by suffering pain and discomfort as a result of the early grade 1 spondylolisthesis as diagnosed as a condition which resulted from the accident of May 6, 1969.

SUMMARY

It is respectfully submitted that the Industrial Commission erred as a matter of law in not finding as the hearing examiner did, that the appellant suffered permanent partial disability of twenty per cent loss of body function attributable to the industrial accident of May 6, 1969. Further, that the medical panel and the Industrial Commission erred in awarding compensation for temporary total disability for a period of three months only where the record clearly shows that the appellant suffered temporary total disability for a period approximating one year and continues to suffer temporary total disability by reason of the spondylolisthesis brought about as a direct result of the accident of May 6, 1969. Appellant should be awarded compensation for temporary total disability for all periods directly attributable to the accident of May 6, 1969, and a re-evaluation should be made as to whether or not surgical intervention is necessitated by the industrial accident.

Respectfully submitted,

PAUL N. COTRO-MANES and
E. H. FANKHAUSER of
Cotro-Manes, Warr, Fankhauser & Beasley
430 Judge Building
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111
Attorneys for Appellant