1972

Ivan B. Evans, Jr. v. Gibbons & Reed Comp Any And Employers Insurance of Wausau : Brief of Repondent

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the Industrial Commission of Utah (herein called the "Commission"). The Commission ordered permanent partial disability compensation to be paid in accordance with a finding, as to loss of bodily function attributable to employment-related injury, made by a medical panel (herein called the "Panel"), appointed pursuant to Section 35-1-77 of the Utah Code. Appellant asserts that he is entitled to more.

DEPOSITION BELOW

The Panel found appellant to have been suffering, before his injury, from a development defect called "spondylolisthesis" which represented a 15% loss of bodily function. After maximum recovery from his injury, his impairment from all causes, the Panel found, was properly rated at 20% loss of function. The Hearing Examiner ordered payment as if the entire 20% disability were attributable to the injury. The Commission, on timely petition for review, corrected the order to require payment for only that portion of the disability found by the Panel to be attributable to the injury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant unquestionably sustained injury by accident in the course of his employment on May 6, 1969. Among his consequent symptoms was lumbosacral pain. That pain had fully subsided by the date of the Panel examination (December 15, 1970), when there was no evidence of residual pain or loss of motion during an orthopedic examination including all the standard tests for pain and motion loss (Panel report, page 3, Record, page 50). These tests were so negative for continuing injury-related problems that it is appropriate to quote the relevant paragraph:

ORTHOPEDIC EXAMINATION: The patient exhibited a negative Romber and was able to walk a straight line without difficulty. He was able to bend forward and touch the floor with his fingertips. Side motion and rotation were within normal limits and caused no pain. He was non-tender to palpation or percussion and good alignment of the back. Straight leg raising was possible to 70° bilaterally, with some tightness of the hamstrings but no pain. There were no sensory changes. Reflexes were equal and active. Leg lengths were equal. There was no apparent atrophy.

Circulation was excellent. He was able to heel and toe walk and get on and off the table without difficulty. There were no abnormal reflexes. Cervical motion was normal and nonpainful. There was no spasm. Motion in the upper extremities was normal. Strength was normal. Reflexes were normal. The cranial nerves were intact. He was noted to have a tattoo on the right mid-forearm.

The significant Panel findings relate to the physical condition of the appellant just before his May 6 injury. He was 5' 9½" and weighed 330 pounds (R 50). He had been born with a defect in his lumbosacral assembly known as spondylolysis which had permitted the fifth lumbar segment to slip forward on the sacrum (Record, page 71).* The displacement or mis-articulation between fifth lumbar and sacrum is spondylolisthesis.

It was the testimony of the Panel Chairman, Dr. Hess, that it is "inconceivable" that a man of appellant's weight and with his structural defect could have been asymptomatic doing heavy work in the years before the May 6, 1969, injury (Record 86). Despite his statements to the contrary, the record shows that appellant *did* have recurrent low back problems. It is unlikely, of course, that the appellant consulted a physician every time he felt low back pain or that the Commission's or Panel's investigations revealed every instance of consultation with a physician with reference to low back symptoms. Nevertheless, the record does reveal these instances of pre-injury low back problems:

1. When he was seven years old, appellant was hit by a truck, became paraplegic, and was hospitalized for two years, (Record 80).

* It should be noted that appellant contends the slippage occurred at the time of the accident, but the Panel finding was that slippage occurred in childhood (R 55, 75 et seq.) and no competent testimony to the contrary was adduced.

2. In June of 1963, appellant slipped on some m... and twisted his back. He was treated by Dr. M... row beginning a week or so after the injury. ... did not become pain free for some three wee... (Record 54).
3. In March of 1969, appellant consulted Dr. Bak... whose notes of March 29 (about 40 days befo... the injury) indicate "back pain the past four day... (Record 54).

After the May 6 injury, appellant returned to work... July 20th, but he left again in September because of a varie... of complaints which are the subject of many medical repor... reviewed by the Panel in the course of its investigation a... analysis. At the time of his release from treatment, howev... appellant was in essentially the same condition as before h... injury of May 6. That is, he was an extremely obese wor... man with a Grade I spondylolisthesis, disposed to develop lo... back symptoms (with or without trauma) which would l... luctantly subside.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COMMISSION PROPERLY AWARDED PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY COMPENSATION ON THE PANEL RATING.

The Panel could not more clearly have stated its findin... with reference to the degree of causal relationship betwe... the injury of May 6 and the structural defect discovered in t... course of treatment of symptoms associated with that inju... The Panel found the spondylolisthesis to have pre-existed t... injury and in no way to have been caused by the injury. T... sheer defect constitutes a 15% impairment of total funct...

simply because the poorly supported tissue surrounding the defect is peculiarly subject to injury and, being under continuing stress, peculiarly slow to heal.

The episode which began May 6 is typical of episodes which can be anticipated where spondylolisthesis exists. Once the pain associated with a particular sprain subsides and the damaged tissue heals, the employee is in essentially the same condition as before the injury, able to function but vulnerable if strain is imposed at the point of defect. The Panel in fact "debated whether to give him *any* impairment because of the accident, because the spondylolisthesis was already present" (Record 84, our emphasis).

The applicant, in Point I of his argument, attacks two findings of the Panel. First, he says that the movement forward of the fifth lumbar segment on the sacrum occurred at the time of the accident even though the Panel found to the contrary. Applicant argues that the Commission *must* find differently from its Panel because (a) the first pictures to reveal the defect were taken after the injury and (b) the first symptoms indicative of the defect appeared after the injury.

The fact that no radiological evidence of defect existed before the injury is not of *any* significance. There were no pictures taken *before* the injury which show the area of the defect. Dr. Hess testified positively, however, that the defect observed always develops (where, as here, it derives from spondylolysis in the first decade of life (Record 75). It is *possible* for lumbosacral dislocation to be caused by trauma, but "this is rarely seen, and would be easily recognized". In this case, the pre-existence of the spondylolisthesis could not

be established radiologically, but the pre-existence of spondylolysis could be and was. Based on perfectly orthodox medical science, Dr. Hess could state positively that the slippage predated the injury. The attending physician, Dr. Cappel, did not hesitate to categorize the spondylolisthesis as "pre-existing" (Record 29).

With regard to the argument that the injury must be regarded as a factor contributing to the basic pathology because the applicant was asymptomatic before the injury, it is simply not true that he was asymptomatic. The record shows two years of paraplegia in childhood, treatment for back symptoms in 1963, and low back complaints, persisting for at least four days, in the 60 days immediately preceding the accident. There may have been other episodes which applicant has forgotten or chooses not to recall. He denied *any* pre-existing history of back symptoms when interviewed by the Panel.

We submit that the Commission would indeed have erred if, on the basis of the testimony elicited at the hearing of July 1, 1971, it had made medical findings at variance with those of the Panel.

POINT II

THIS IS NOT A CASE WHERE THE AGGRAVATION THEORY HAS APPLICATION.

Applicant cites three Utah cases for the proposition that, where an industrial injury aggravates a pre-existing condition (previously non-disabling) so that it becomes disabling, compensation should be paid as if the injury were the cause of the condition.

Defendants do not quarrel with this doctrine, but it is subject to limitation. It must be true, for the doctrine to apply, that the pre-existing condition is in fact made worse by the injury and is not merely the occasion for discovery of the condition. To take an extreme example, the disease of hemophilia may be diagnosed because of a slight industrial injury which produces immoderate bleeding. The employer must pay compensation for the period of disability necessary to bring the bleeding under control. The employer is not, however, now obligated to pay permanent partial disability compensation for the disability attributable to the disease. The disease is not *worse* because of the injury; it is merely *known* because of the injury.

The problem has been presented to this court on at least two occasions where the underlying pathology was arthritis. In *Silcox v. Industrial Commission*, 101 U 438, 121 P2d 901, the employee's pain started when he was lifting a 225 pound leyner machine in the course of employment. The Commission found the source of the pain to have been arthritis — even though made symptomatic by the lifting — and this court upheld the denial of compensation. In *Pintar v. Commission*, 14 U2d 276, 382 P2d 414, the fundamental problem was again arthritic disease, and the Commission again denied application for compensation even though the employee developed symptoms in employment related activity.

In the instant case, the applicant was, before his injury, a grossly obese workman with a Grade I spondylolisthesis and therefore peculiarly subject to low back problems. The injury may have been more disabling because of the lumbosacral defect and less responsive to treatment, but the injury did not in-

crease the grade of the spondylolisthesis or cause it to be of greater significance as a work limiting factor than it was before.

POINT III

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT MAKE FINDINGS AS TO THE DURATION OF TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY.

In his Point II, plaintiff argues that he should be awarded temporary total disability compensation for a longer period than the Panel found his injury to have been disabling. If we comprehend it, his reasoning is that (a) defendants are chargeable as if his employment had caused the spondylolisthesis (b) he cannot work while the condition remains uncorrected (c) surgery is contra-indicated so long as he is greatly overweight, so (d) temporary total disability should continue until he chooses to lose weight.

We do not agree that the legislature intended to impose any such burden on employers. We submit that the length of the period of actual temporary total disability is a medical issue to be resolved by medical specialists having access to all the relevant data. This is exactly what was done in this case. For this court to compel findings on medical issues different from those made by the Commission and its Panel, it must be persuaded that the Panel is composed of scoundrels or incompetents and that the Commission acted in the absence of credible evidence, arbitrarily and capriciously (*Vause v. Commission*, 17 U 2d 217, 407 P 2d 1006; *Frenchik v. Commission*, 22 U 2d 123, 449 P 2d 649).

POINT IV

THERE IS NO BASIS FOR MODIFICATION OF THE ORDER HEREIN AS IT RELATES TO SURGERY.

The Panel in this case recognized a pre-existing spondylolisthesis which was not materially changed because of the damage to adjacent tissue caused by the industrial accident. It further found that the applicant had recovered, with some residual, from the effects of that accident. The mere fact that the appellant became aware of his defect in the course of medical investigation of an industrial injury does not justify an order that his employer pay for surgical correction. Moreover, the wisdom of surgery cannot be evaluated while the appellant is a hundred pounds or so overweight. So far as the record reveals, the obesity is a problem the appellant can solve if he will. The employer should not be required to pay additional compensation because of complications of his problem deliberately generated by the appellant.

CONCLUSION

We are not dealing here with a previously quiescent disease or condition which was made disabling and changed in nature or severity by injury. The appellant had a lumbosacral defect which periodically became manifest when stress was imposed on the area. The accident of May 6, 1969, produced low back symptoms which, because of the defect, persisted. Compensation was paid for the extended period of disability, and the costs of treatment were paid. It was the finding of the

Commission and the Panel, however, that no permanent aggravation of the spondylolisthesis occurred, and there is no justification for charging the employer with the disability associated with the defect or the costs of its surgical correction.